
 

SENATE JUD COMMITTEE -1-  April 4, 2025 

ALASKA STATE LEGISLATURE 

SENATE JUDICIARY STANDING COMMITTEE 

April 4, 2025 

1:30 p.m. 

 

 

MEMBERS PRESENT 

 

Senator Matt Claman, Chair  

Senator Jesse Kiehl, Vice Chair  

Senator Gary Stevens 

Senator Robert Myers 

 

MEMBERS ABSENT 

 

Senator Löki Tobin 

 

COMMITTEE CALENDAR 

 

SENATE CONCURRENT RESOLUTION NO. 1 

Relating to the procedure that the Thirty-Fourth Alaska State 

Legislature will use to reconsider bills and items vetoed by the 

governor.  

 

 - HEARD & HELD 

 

CONFIRMATION HEARING(S) 

 

Chief Administrative Law Judge 

Joan Wilson – Anchorage 

 

 - CONFIRMATION ADVANCED 

 

PREVIOUS COMMITTEE ACTION 

 

BILL: SCR  1 

SHORT TITLE: ART. II, SEC. 16, CONST: VETO RECON 

SPONSOR(s): SENATOR(s) CLAMAN 

 

01/24/25 (S) READ THE FIRST TIME - REFERRALS 

01/24/25 (S) STA, JUD 

03/04/25 (S) STA AT 3:30 PM BELTZ 105 (TSBldg) 

03/04/25 (S) Heard & Held 

03/04/25 (S) MINUTE(STA) 

04/01/25 (S) STA AT 3:30 PM SENATE FINANCE 532 

04/01/25 (S) Moved SCR 1 Out of Committee 

04/01/25 (S) MINUTE(STA) 



 

SENATE JUD COMMITTEE -2-  April 4, 2025 

04/02/25 (S) STA RPT 2NR 1DP 1AM 

04/02/25 (S) NR: KAWASAKI, WIELECHOWSKI 

04/02/25 (S) DP: GRAY-JACKSON 

04/02/25 (S) AM: YUNDT 

04/02/25 (S) JUD WAIVED PUBLIC HEARING NOTICE,RULE 

23 

04/04/25 (S) JUD AT 1:30 PM BUTROVICH 205 

 

WITNESS REGISTER 

 

SUSAN ORLANSKY, representing self 

Anchorage, Alaska 

POSITION STATEMENT: Testified by invitation on SCR 1. 

 

JOAN WILSON, Appointee 

Chief Administrative Law Judge 

Anchorage, Alaska 

POSITION STATEMENT: Testified as the governor’s appointee to the 

position of Chief Administrative Law Judge. 

 

ACTION NARRATIVE 

 

1:30:37 PM 

CHAIR CLAMAN called the Senate Judiciary Standing Committee 

meeting to order at 1:30 p.m. Present at the call to order were 

Senators Kiehl, Stevens, Myers, and Chair Claman. 

 

SCR  1-ART. II, SEC. 16, CONST: VETO RECON    

 

1:31:07 PM 

CHAIR CLAMAN announced the consideration of SENATE CONCURRENT 

RESOLUTION NO. 1 Relating to the procedure that the Thirty-

Fourth Alaska State Legislature will use to reconsider bills and 

items vetoed by the governor. 

 

CHAIR CLAMAN said that this is the first hearing of SCR 1 in the 

Senate Judiciary Standing Committee. He asked the invited 

testifier to put herself on the record and begin her remarks. 

 

1:31:36 PM 

SUSAN ORLANSKY, representing self, Anchorage, Alaska, testified 

by invitation on SCR 1, as follows: 

 

I am a lawyer in private practice in Anchorage, and I 

have done that for more than 40 years now. Over the 

decades, I've had the privilege to have been asked to 

do legal research on an enormous variety of issues. 



 

SENATE JUD COMMITTEE -3-  April 4, 2025 

Approximately a year ago, I was contacted by Senator 

Claman and by Doug Gardner, who is, or at least was 

then, the Senate majority counsel. They asked me if I 

had time to look into issues related to Article II, 

Section 16 of the Alaska State Constitution, which is 

the section that governs the legislature's "Action 

Upon Veto" to use the formal title of the section.   

 

I had no preconceptions when I began my research about 

how this section is designed to work, since I had 

absolutely no previous occasion to do any research 

related to this section of the Constitution. It turned 

out to be a surprisingly straightforward research 

project. Often, legal research ends in ambiguous and 

unclear territory where there is no one clearly 

correct interpretation of a statute or constitutional 

provision, and advocates reasonably could argue for 

different interpretations. That's what most litigation 

is all about. This project was not like that. Here I 

found really only one sensible answer. Here, there is 

complete consistency between: 

 

 The explicit language of the State Constitution;  

 

 The minutes from the Constitutional Convention that 

explain the intent of the framers who drafted the 

language; and also  

 

 The rules and practices adopted by the very first 

legislature, which included some people who had been 

delegates to the Constitutional Convention, who had, 

therefore, a unique understanding of what the 

framers intended the legislature to do in response 

to a gubernatorial veto.  

 

1:33:36 PM 

MS. ORLANSKY continued her testimony on SCR 1: 

 

I had no part in drafting SCR 1, but I have read it, 

and I think it very accurately sets out the history 

and the meaning of Article II, Section 16. If you'll 

indulge me, I've got maybe about five minutes' worth 

of comments to explain my research and my analysis 

briefly. So, I'd like to make a couple of points about 

the constitutional language and the subsequent 

practice by the very first legislature. I hope to use 

somewhat less legalistic-sounding language that's in 



 

SENATE JUD COMMITTEE -4-  April 4, 2025 

the proposed resolution to make this as clear as 

possible. The starting point for any exercise in 

interpreting the Constitution has to be the language 

of the Constitution. The first sentence of Article II, 

Section 16, says very explicitly: 

 

“Upon receipt of a veto message during a regular 

session of the legislature, the legislature 

shall meet immediately in joint session and 

reconsider passage of the vetoed bill or item.” 

 

Later sentences in this section, which were added 

later, address what happens if the legislature is not 

in session when a bill is vetoed. They provide that if 

the legislature reconvenes in either a regular or 

special session after receiving the veto, the 

legislature shall reconsider the vetoed bill in joint 

session, not later than the fifth day after 

reconvening. The bottom line is that the 

constitutional language is crystal clear that the 

legislature is required to meet in joint session after 

receiving a veto. The Constitution uses the word 

"shall," which is a word of requirement. There's no 

discretion to decide not to meet in joint session 

after receiving a veto. 

 

1:35:25 PM 

MS. ORLANSKY continued her testimony on SCR 1: 

 

Second, the Constitution and the minutes make very 

clear that the joint session is to be held promptly. 

The Constitution literally says "immediately" if the 

legislature is in session when the veto is delivered, 

and "within five days of reconvening" if the 

legislature is not in session when the veto is 

delivered. So, if there's anything at all unclear in 

the constitutional language, it's only exactly what 

does "immediately" mean. I'm not going to say there's 

a definitive answer to that, but I think the 

constitutional language and the Constitutional 

Convention minutes suggest some pretty clear 

guidelines. At one extreme, the framers of the 

Constitution made clear they actually didn't intend to 

require both houses to drop everything and move 

literally immediately into joint session. They 

discussed that, and they rejected that notion. But 

equally clearly, the framers' statements made clear 



 

SENATE JUD COMMITTEE -5-  April 4, 2025 

that they meant that the legislature must hold the 

joint session promptly, without undue delay. The first 

legislature, which dealt with the first-ever 

gubernatorial vetoes, met in joint session on the same 

day the vetoes were delivered. It voted on one of the 

vetoes and postponed consideration of the other for 

about two more days. An outside limit for what can be 

considered prompt enough to meet the spirit of the 

constitutional requirement of immediately is strongly 

suggested by the five-day limit that the Constitution 

provides for meeting in joint session, if the 

legislature has adjourned at the time the veto is 

issued, and the legislature will next meet when it 

reconvenes for a further regular or special session. 

In other words, the Constitution explains that five 

days after returning to session is enough time when 

the legislators will have to come back and reorganize 

themselves for getting back to work. So, if five days 

are enough in that situation, it's fair to assume 

that, when the veto is delivered while the legislature 

is already in session, waiting more than five days 

would not satisfy the constitutional requirement to 

meet in joint session immediately. 

 

1:37:37 PM 

MS. ORLANSKY continued her testimony on SCR 1: 

 

The last point I want to make is that all of this is 

also completely consistent with the legislature's 

current Uniform Rule 45; this is the rule titled 

"Vetoed Bills." It provides that after the governor 

returns a vetoed bill, with his objections, to the 

house of origin when the legislature is in session, 

the house shall note the veto message in its journal, 

and the other house is promptly requested to meet in 

joint session to reconsider passage of the vetoed bill 

or item. So again, using that word "promptly" invited. 

If the legislature is not in session when the veto is 

delivered, your Rule 45 tracks the Constitution and 

states that the bill must be considered in joint 

session within five days of that legislature's 

reconvening in a regular or special session. 

 

1:38:28 PM 

MS. ORLANSKY continued her testimony on SCR 1: 

 



 

SENATE JUD COMMITTEE -6-  April 4, 2025 

I've been told that in the recent past, the 

legislature sometimes turned to Uniform Rule 51 rather 

than Rule 45 for procedures on responding to a veto. I 

think that's pretty clearly a mistake. Rule 51 is a 

general rule on joint sessions. It provides for how a 

joint session may be called by agreement of the 

presiding officer of both houses or by a vote of the 

majority of one house. It's very well accepted in law 

that a more specific rule controls over a general 

rule, which is why it's a mistake to be guided by the 

general rule on calling a joint session instead of the 

very specific rule, Rule 45, which was written 

precisely to define the legislature's required 

procedure in response to a vetoed bill. In sum, my 

research supports the conclusion that the proposed 

resolution accurately describes the history behind the 

language in Article II, Section 16, and accurately 

describes the way the first legislature interpreted 

the language. So, if anyone's got any questions, I'm 

happy to try to answer them. 

 

1:39:38 PM 

SENATOR MYERS agreed with the testifier’s research and 

conclusions but said one section might create some confusion, 

referring to the “whereas” clause on page 2, line 17. He 

expressed his understanding that this clause could eventually 

become precedential. He said he has no issue with the portion 

referencing Senate Bill 140 and March 18. However, he noted that 

line 19 references the legislature meeting in joint session on 

January 18, 2024, to reconsider vetoed items from House Bill 39, 

the operating budget. He stated that although the legislature 

did meet, it voted on only one budget veto, ignored 

approximately two dozen other line-item vetoes, and also ignored 

two bills that had been vetoed the previous fall. He said this 

portion of the clause does not align with the testifier’s 

presentation. He expressed his concern that the “whereas” does 

not really set a clear precedent and, in effect, highlights how 

the legislature ignored the Constitution. He asked the testifier 

to express her opinion on that. 

 

1:41:34 PM 

MS. ORLANSKY replied that she is not an expert on the dates or 

on what occurred during the last joint session and noted that 

she did not participate in writing SCR 1. She said her 

understanding, based on his comments, is that what is written in 

the clause is accurate but may not be complete or provide the 

full context. She stated that she would leave it to the 



 

SENATE JUD COMMITTEE -7-  April 4, 2025 

committee and the drafters to determine whether the point the 

senator wished to make would be more effectively conveyed if the 

clause presented a more complete picture of what happened. 

 

1:42:13 PM 

SENATOR STEVENS said that recognizing the difficulty of calling 

the legislature back into session when members are spread across 

the world, he wanted to ensure he understood the timeline 

correctly. He asked whether the five days to react begins only 

after the legislature has reconvened, rather than five days 

after members begin being called in. He sought confirmation that 

the five days the legislature has to consider an issue applies 

after it has reconvened. 

 

MS. ORLANSKY affirmed that is correct. 

 

SENATOR STEVENS said, as a follow-up to remarks regarding 

reconsideration of a governor’s vetoes during a joint session, 

the legislature has often picked and chosen which matters to 

address, and he believes the legislature has the right to do 

that. 

 

1:43:09 PM 

CHAIR CLAMAN continued the subject, offering the following 

supposition. The legislature is in joint session with ten vetoed 

items before it. There is interest in overriding two items but 

not the remaining eight—perhaps because there are not enough 

votes to override those eight. He asked whether the legislature 

would be failing to meet its constitutional obligations if it 

votes on items one and two and, when items three through ten 

come up, a member moves to adjourn the joint session and the 

majority votes to adjourn. He asked whether the constitutional 

requirement is satisfied by meeting in joint session even if the 

legislature does not specifically vote on each vetoed item. 

 

MS. ORLANSKY replied that she had not researched that question 

specifically, but her initial reaction is that the legislature 

would not have satisfied the constitutional requirement. She 

believes it requires the legislature to apply its response to 

every vetoed message, based on her reading of the Constitution 

and minutes. She stated that if, for example, there were six 

vetoed items, she would find it difficult to interpret the 

Constitution as allowing the legislature to reconvene, vote on 

one item, ignore the remaining five, and still have met its 

obligation. She stated that she reads the Constitution as 

creating a duty for the legislature to be heard in response to a 

veto. She noted that if members counted votes in advance and 



 

SENATE JUD COMMITTEE -8-  April 4, 2025 

knew an override would fail, the legislature could take very 

quick votes without extended discussion, as nothing requires 

long debate or efforts to revise legislation to satisfy the 

governor or the majority. She said her reading of the 

Constitution is that the legislature, meeting in joint session, 

is required to vote on the veto within five days. 

 

1:45:07 PM 

SENATOR MYERS highlighted the testifier’s comments and said he 

tends to agree with her. He said the constitutional language 

requires the legislature to meet immediately in joint session 

and then immediately reconsider passage of the vetoed bill or 

item. He said that indicates the legislature cannot simply meet 

and adjourn; it must vote on each item. He contended, per the 

Constitution, the legislature shall immediately meet in joint 

session and “reconsider passage of the vetoed bill or item,” 

which he interprets as requiring an up-or-down vote on 

everything. He said this could be done either as a package—such 

as one vote on ten budget vetoes—or by voting on each item 

individually, but the legislature cannot vote on only two or 

three and leave the remainder. He referred to comments from 

Delegate Taylor in the minutes of the Constitutional Convention 

and quoted in a memo provided in the bill packet, emphasizing 

that vetoed items must return to the house of origin and not be 

allowed to die through inaction. The delegate objected to the 

withdrawal of the motion that added the word “immediately.” He 

said that while the delegates were not directly addressing the 

situation of convening and immediately adjourning without taking 

a vote, their statements support the principle that a vote is 

needed. He stated that this applies to whether one house fails 

to request a joint session, or whether the legislature convenes 

in joint session and adjourns without voting. He said the 

delegates tried to get the legislature to avoid taking those 

actions. He expressed his belief, as did the invited testifier, 

that the legislature would require a vote if it were following 

the Constitution. 

 

1:47:42 PM 

SENATOR KIEHL pointed out a language variation in art. II, 

sec. 16 of the Constitution. He said it seems when it comes to 

appropriation items, the language addressing vetoes returned 

while the legislature is in session states that the legislature: 

 

shall meet immediately in joint session and reconsider 

passage of the vetoed bill or item. 

 



 

SENATE JUD COMMITTEE -9-  April 4, 2025 

SENATOR KIEHL said, however, when the same section discusses 

bills vetoed after adjournment of the first or second session, 

it refers only to reconsidering the bill and does not refer to 

items. He asked how that distinction should be understood when 

discussing “an amount of money for a purpose,” which he believes 

the Alaska Supreme Court has defined as an item. 

 

1:48:54 PM 

MS. ORLANSKY replied that she did not have an answer to that 

question. She said her research over the past year focused on 

the obligations of the legislature when it is already in 

session. She noted that the first sentence of the section was 

part of the original Constitution, while the sentences 

addressing what occurs when the legislature is not in session 

were added later, which she thinks was in 1975. She stated that 

she is not the expert and did not review all that material, so 

she does not have a good answer. She said she understood his 

point and that it may be valid, but she was not prepared to 

offer an opinion on how the Constitution should be read because 

she has not conducted the necessary background research. 

 

1:49:46 PM 

SENATOR KIEHL said that, generally, both good-government 

structure and the minutes of the Constitutional Convention point 

to the balance of powers requiring the legislature to convene 

and vote. He recalled previous events and said he believed there 

was a time when the legislature passed a partially funded budget 

to the governor, who then vetoed every line by half or two-

thirds. He noted that such a circumstance would have required a 

very long joint session, even without discussion. 

 

1:50:39 PM 

SENATOR MYERS said that the committee received several legal 

memos as part of the documentation for SCR 1 and that there 

appears to be some confusion or conflict among them regarding 

how the Supreme Court might become involved. He said one memo 

suggested that if the legislature ignored a vetoed item, it 

could theoretically face a lawsuit, while another memo, 

referencing the Meekins case, noted that the Supreme Court 

generally tries to avoid telling the legislature what to do. He 

asked the testifier to shed more light on how to interpret those 

points and how the legislature can find that balance. 

 

MS. ORLANSKY replied that she would likely bypass a direct 

answer because she knows what she researched and what she did 

not research in depth. She said it is correct that there is case 

law pointing in both directions. She stated that the Supreme 



 

SENATE JUD COMMITTEE -10-  April 4, 2025 

Court frequently does not want to tell the legislature how it 

should operate. She noted, however, there may be a difference 

between the Supreme Court telling the legislature whether it is 

following its own rules—which the Supreme Court may be reluctant 

to do—and the Supreme Court determining whether the legislature 

is abiding by the Constitution. She said the balance of powers 

may require the Supreme Court to review and weigh in on a 

properly brought lawsuit alleging that the legislature is not 

following the Constitution, and that the outcome of such a case 

could differ from a lawsuit asserting only that the legislature 

is not following its own rules. 

 

1:52:29 PM 

SENATOR KIEHL referred to the testifier’s opening remarks and 

asked why it would be invalid to assume that if there are enough 

votes to adjourn a joint session, then there are obviously not 

the supermajority—or, in the case of appropriations, the higher 

threshold—needed to override a veto. He asked why a vote to 

adjourn a joint session with several items still pending would 

not accomplish the same result. 

 

MS. ORLANSKY replied that her best answer returns to the 

distinction between specific and general provisions, noting that 

specific provisions ordinarily control over general ones. She 

said that while there is a general rule about when the 

legislature may adjourn a joint session, there is a very 

specific rule about what the legislature is required to do when 

calling a joint session to reconsider a vetoed bill. She stated 

that if she were hired to defend the position that the 

legislature must meet in joint session and act on a veto, she 

would argue to the Supreme Court that the specific provision 

governing the legislature’s response to a veto controls over the 

general rules governing when the legislature may convene or 

adjourn a special session. 

 

1:54:16 PM 

SENATOR MYERS followed up with a question on that point. He 

asked whether the following hypothetical scenario aligns with 

the spirit of what the delegates talked about in the first 

legislature: 

 

 The governor vetoes ten items in the operating budget. 

 

 The legislature convenes to vote on those vetoes for possible 

overrides. 

 



 

SENATE JUD COMMITTEE -11-  April 4, 2025 

 Some vetoed items are politically sensitive for certain 

members. 

 

 Certain legislators want to override two or three items but do 

not want to vote on others because their views and those of 

their constituents differ, making them hesitant to cast a vote 

on the record.  

 

 Certain legislators feel the same way, but about opposite 

items.  

 

SENATOR MYERS stated that, in such a situation, the question 

would shift from whether there are enough votes to override any 

specific item to whether a vote on adjournment reflects how many 

legislators want to avoid taking a vote on a given budget item. 

He asked how that scenario interacts with the delegates’ intent 

to prevent the legislature from sitting on an item and not 

taking a vote. 

 

1:55:58 PM 

MS. ORLANSKY responded that she is not a legislator or a 

politician but understands why some politicians might feel that 

way. However, the Constitution places a duty on legislators to 

meet and reconsider the veto. She acknowledged that the role of 

legislators carries inherent difficulty and is not always 

comfortable one. She then expressed her belief that when a veto 

occurs, the constitutional requirement to meet and reconsider 

the veto prevails over a member’s comfort or political choice. 

 

1:56:57 PM 

SENATOR STEVENS said that, with all due respect to the 

testifier, who comes highly recommended and has done great work, 

the legislature tends to find the attorney who will give the 

answer it wants. 

 

CHAIR CLAMAN replied that he was not sure what the senator meant 

about the answers the committee received. 

 

SENATOR STEVENS stated that the interpretation flies in the face 

of legislative precedent and ties the legislature’s hands. He 

said the legislature can always have a motion to adjourn and the 

body must address that motion immediately. He noted that the 

legislature must follow multiple rules. He expressed concern 

about where this discussion is taking the legislature.  

 

1:58:03 PM 



 

SENATE JUD COMMITTEE -12-  April 4, 2025 

CHAIR CLAMAN opened public testimony on SCR 1; finding none, he 

closed public testimony. 

 

1:58:42 PM 

CHAIR CLAMAN held SCR 1 in committee. 

 

CONFIRMATION HEARING(S) 

CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE 

 

1:58:45 PM 

CHAIR CLAMAN announced consideration of the governor’s appointee 

to the position of Chief Administrative Law Judge. 

 

CHAIR CLAMAN invited Ms. Wilson to put herself on the record and 

begin her testimony. 

 

1:59:20 PM 

JOAN WILSON, Appointee, Chief Administrative Law Judge, 

Anchorage, Alaska, testified as the governor’s appointee to the 

position of Chief Administrative Law Judge. She presented a 

brief history of her background and experience.  

 

2:06:02 PM 

SENATOR MYERS remarked that when he reviewed the appointee’s 

resume, her breadth of experience stood out most. He wondered if 

the appointee would elaborate on how her breadth of experience 

could contribute to the Office of Administrative Hearings.  

 

2:06:30 PM 

MS. WILSON replied that she began her legal career in private 

practice at Davis Wright Tremaine, where her mentor often told 

her he would “throw her in the deep end of the pool” to see if 

she could swim. She said he assigned her thousands of 

depositions across a wide range of subject areas, including 

construction law, transportation, employment law, civil rights, 

and education law, which is how civil litigators were trained 

when she entered the field. She said she did not realize when 

she first became a legislative aide at a very young age, how 

wonderful it would be to return to state service. She explained 

that although financial reasons prompted her to join the 

Department of Law, the cases she received as an assistant 

attorney general were remarkable. She said she represented the 

transportation section, the health section, the Department of 

Commerce, and handled medical board matters. She noted that her 

substantial work with boards and commissions led her to take on 

marijuana and alcohol licensing, which, in turn, led to her role 

as director of the Alcohol and Marijuana Control Office. She 



 

SENATE JUD COMMITTEE -13-  April 4, 2025 

added that she enjoys managing organizations and working to make 

them as healthy as possible, emphasizing that hardworking judges 

and equally dedicated staff deserve recognition and 

appreciation. She tries to model the “13 behaviors of a high 

trust leader” and expects the same from others. She stated that 

being an Alaskan, a mother, and a wife of 23 years has put her 

in many interesting conversations that she does not always win.  

 

2:08:28 PM 

SENATOR KIEHL asked how she hires and trains staff at the Office 

of Administrative Hearings, noting that administrative law 

judges do not necessarily come from a judicial background. He 

asked what OAH does well in screening, hiring, and training the 

individuals who serve as administrative law judges and where she 

would like to make improvements. 

 

2:09:10 PM 

MS. WILSON replied that moving from the role of litigator to 

adjudicator is a big change for anyone, including herself. She 

said new adjudicators begin with cases that are more 

straightforward in terms of the law, noting that the law directs 

them. She said that one aspect of the job that adjudicators 

benefit from is the ability to interpret the statutes using the 

legislature’s own words. She stated that judges rely heavily on 

plain meaning and know that when it is ambiguous, they should 

turn to legislative intent. She emphasized the importance of 

collegiality, recalling that at the Department of Law, attorneys 

frequently worked through cases together and learned from one 

another. She said she began her tenure with a high vacancy rate 

among judges and has relied on her long career and professional 

network to recruit strong candidates, including for difficult-

to-fill tax positions. She expressed hope that OAH will see some 

excellent judges over her five-year tenure.  

 

MS. WILSON commended the “13 obligations” that identify her 

duties in statute, remarking that she has never had a job where 

it is so easy to assess her own performance. She noted that her 

statutory duties include improving the professional performance 

of judges. She said OAH provides training through the National 

Judicial Council and sends new judges to NJC programs. She is 

exploring additional webinars and opportunities to bring NJC 

instructors to Alaska to conduct judicial-writing training that 

could benefit both OAH judges and hearing officers elsewhere in 

the state. She said that not all departments send their cases to 

OAH—such as the Department of Natural Resources, which hears its 

own appeals. OAH prioritizes education, training, and 

communication across the system. She said she works to ensure 



 

SENATE JUD COMMITTEE -14-  April 4, 2025 

judges approach cases with the perspective of an adjudicator, 

especially in matters such as substantiation of child abuse, 

where outcomes may affect an individual’s ability to obtain 

future employment. She noted that OAH staff includes former 

public defenders and former prosecutors, who all must be mindful 

of checking their biases and looking through the lens of an 

adjudicator. She said that after seven months in the role, she 

believes judges often develop an initial sense of the case once 

the facts are presented, but that is the moment when it becomes 

most important to examine and control those biases. She stated 

that she has no problem with people coming with biases, rather, 

it is how those biases are acted on. She expressed hope that, in 

two or three more years, the training and development plan she 

implemented will work. 

 

2:12:35 PM 

SENATOR STEVENS said that he enjoyed meeting the appointee. He 

asked for more information about the organization, including how 

many people are in the office, how she manages the organization, 

and requested more detail about training and structure.  

 

MS. WILSON replied that the Office of Administrative Hearings is 

a fairly small organization with ten positions, including hers. 

She said there are currently seven judges in place, two 

positions close to being filled, and she is working on filling 

one vacancy. She said she would like to fill all the positions 

funded in the budget. She explained that the office must strike 

a balance similar to a law firm: if administrative appeals are 

not coming in, it may mean State agencies are handling matters 

correctly, but it also leaves administrative judges ready and 

waiting for work. She said the office operates leanly, typically 

ending the year with a carryforward of only $30,000 to $60,000. 

She noted that other parts of government need OAH’s services; 

for example, the Anchorage School District has no one to do 

their education appeals. She expressed her belief that the 

Anchorage School District is down to one or two retired judges. 

She said that at some point she would like to return to the 

legislature and the governor to request additional program 

receipt authority so that, during lulls in State administrative 

appeals, the office can take on work from outside entities. She 

emphasized that OAH also relies on four excellent support staff—

a Paralegal III and three administrative assistants—along with 

the administrative officer, and she added that Forrest Wolf has 

been instrumental in helping her navigate the process.  

 

2:15:02 PM 



 

SENATE JUD COMMITTEE -15-  April 4, 2025 

SENATOR MYERS said that she mentioned the possibility of 

returning next year with requests for statute updates. He asked 

if she could offer a preview of what she is hoping to address. 

 

MS. WILSON clarified the role of an administrative law judge, 

stating that they are not attorneys for the final decision 

makers. She said that as a former assistant attorney general, 

she represented division directors and sometimes advised 

commissioners, but at OAH, judges serve as legal experts on the 

cases before them. She explained that state statute requires 

judges to prepare a final decision for the final decision maker, 

which means interpreting law, statutes, and regulations then 

writing a decision as if the final decision maker will have no 

problem with it. She said OAH will give them one answer. She 

said that if the final decision maker requests changes, judges 

work with them. If a judge rules in the respondent’s favor, the 

respondent does not need to appeal further. However, she noted 

that if a judge rules for the respondent and makes an error of 

law, the Department of Law may lose the ability to appeal that 

issue until a similar case arises and the respondent loses. She 

explained that the State can only appeal OAH decisions if the 

respondent loses.  

 

MS. WILSON said she might like to consider expanding 

interlocutory appeal authority so that, when OAH is answering a 

question of law and the Department of Law is advising the same 

client agency, the Superior Court could weigh in to ensure 

accuracy. She said such a change could address some of the 

discontent the Department of Law has expressed with OAH 

decisions. She said she tracks OAH’s performance each month and 

shares those numbers with the Department of Law.  

 

2:17:08 PM 

MS. WILSON explained that OAH currently issues proposed 

decisions and allows parties to comment on whether the judge got 

it right. She stated that after this comment period, OAH 

prepares its proposals for action and sends them to the final 

decision maker. She emphasized that OAH judges do not have the 

opportunity to revise those proposals, even when they later 

recognize that a party raised a valid point, and the judge would 

have liked to revise the proposal. She said one possible 

improvement would be to return proposals for action to the judge 

before they are sent to the final decision maker. 

 

2:17:44 PM 

MS. WILSON raised the issue of the importance of timing 

requirements. She noted that statutes require OAH to reach a 



 

SENATE JUD COMMITTEE -16-  April 4, 2025 

decision within 120 days, generally, of receiving a notice of 

defense. She said that the administrative hearing process 

produces significant cost savings compared to the court system. 

She expressed her belief that Nancy Meade, general counsel, from 

the Alaska Court System, tracked that if the Department of Law 

or court system did the work, the cost would be about double.  

 

MS. WILSON stated that OAH and the Department of Law have two 

differing statutory proposals. She would like to identify areas 

of agreement and present an omnibus bill to the legislature, 

while also identifying sections where the departments disagree 

so that the governor or the legislature can decide whether to 

introduce a bill. She expressed if OAH could solve this issue-

the Department of Law losing a chance to appeal, specifically, 

on a question of law-that could address many of the concerns she 

hears. She stated that she has great respect for the attorney 

generals.  

 

2:19:04 PM 

CHAIR CLAMAN opened public testimony on the governor’s 

appointment; finding none, he closed public testimony. 

 

2:19:32 PM 

CHAIR CLAMAN solicited a motion. 

 

2:19:35 PM 

SENATOR STEVENS stated the Senate Judiciary Standing Committee 

reviewed the following and recommends the appointment be 

advanced to a joint session for consideration: 

 

Chief Administrative Law Judge 

Joan Wilson – Anchorage 

 

SENATOR STEVENS reminded members that signing the report(s) 

regarding the appointment in no way reflects individual members' 

approval or disapproval of the appointee; the nomination is 

merely advanced to the full legislature for confirmation or 

rejection. 

 

2:19:55 PM 

CHAIR CLAMAN said the appointee will be advanced to a Joint 

Session [in accordance with AS 44.64.010]. 

 

2:20:27 PM 

There being no further business to come before the committee, 

Chair Claman adjourned the Senate Judiciary Standing Committee 

meeting at 2:20 p.m. 


	Com1NameH
	date
	time
	draft
	Com1PresentMem
	Com1AbsentMem
	prevact
	wit
	ActionNarrative
	committeename
	time2
	start
	chairname

